
 United Nations  A/C.3/63/SR.20

  
 

General Assembly 
Sixty-third session 
 
Official Records 

 
Distr.: General 
19 January 2009 
English 
Original: French 

 

 

This record is subject to correction. Corrections should be sent under the signature of a member 
of the delegation concerned within one week of the date of publication to the Chief of the 
Official Records Editing Section, room DC2-750, 2 United Nations Plaza, and incorporated in a 
copy of the record. 

Corrections will be issued after the end of the session, in a separate corrigendum for each 
Committee. 

08-56391 (E) 
*0856391* 

Third Committee 
 

Summary record of the 20th meeting 
Held at Headquarters, New York, on Wednesday, 22 October 2008, at 10 a.m. 
 

Chairperson: Mr. Majoor . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (Netherlands)
 later: Ms. Seanedzu . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (Ghana) 
 later: Mr. Majoor (Chairperson) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (Netherlands) 

 
 
 

Contents 
 

Agenda item 64: Promotion and protection of human rights (continued) 

(b) Human rights questions, including alternative approaches for improving the 
effective enjoyment of human rights and fundamental freedoms 

(c) Human rights situations and reports of special rapporteurs and representatives 

(e) Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities 

 



A/C.3/63/SR.20  
 

08-56391 2 
 

The meeting was called to order at 10.10 a.m. 
 
 

Agenda item 64: Promotion and protection of human 
rights (continued) (A/63/123, A63/281-S/2008/431 and 
A/63/370-S/2008/614) 
 

 (b) Human rights questions, including alternative 
approaches for improving the effective 
enjoyment of human rights and fundamental 
freedoms (A/63/161, A/63/223, A/63/259, 
A/63/263, A/63/270, A/63/271, A/63/272, 
A/63/274, A/63/275, A/63/278, A/63/286, 
A/63/287, A/63/288, A/63/289, A/63/290, 
A/63/292, A/63/293, A/63/293/Corr.1, A/63/299, 
A/63/313, A/63/318, A/63/337, A/63/340, 
A/63/365, A/63/367 and A/63/486) 

 

 (c) Human rights situations and reports of special 
rapporteurs and representatives (A/63/322, 
A/63/326, A/63/332, A/63/341, A/63/356 and 
A/63/459) 

 

 (e) Convention on the Rights of Persons with 
Disabilities (A/63/264 and A/63/264/Corr.1) 

 

1. Ms. Pillay (United Nations High Commissioner 
for Human Rights), presenting her report (A/63/36), 
noted that she had taken up her functions in a year 
which marked the anniversary of various human rights 
instruments. That was an opportunity for all those 
involved in human rights to take stock of the progress 
made and challenges that remained, and to examine the 
correlation between human rights and the rights to 
development, peace and security. The principles 
enshrined in the Universal Declaration of Human 
Rights should represent a unifying rather than a 
divisive force among cultures. However, despite the 
firm commitments made, much remained to be done to 
ensure the effective realization of human rights, which 
were sometimes sidestepped in the name of security. 
Discrimination in all its forms persisted and the 
promises contained in the Universal Declaration had 
yet to be fulfilled. Despite their essential contribution 
to development, peace and security, too many countries 
still systematically discriminated against women. To 
face those challenges, she would strive to ensure the 
effective realization of all human rights on the ground 
and would endeavour to prevent politicization of 
human rights by applying the principles of universality, 
impartiality and non-selectivity. 

2. Many national and international instruments had 
been developed to apply the principles laid down in the 

Universal Declaration of Human Rights. She was 
particularly pleased to note that the Human Rights 
Council had adopted the Optional Protocol to the 
International Covenant on Economic, Social and 
Cultural Rights, which established an individual 
communications procedure for cases of alleged 
violations of economic, social and cultural rights. It 
underscored the equal value of all human rights and the 
legal remedies that should be applied for their 
protection. Those national and international standards, 
and the treaty bodies and special procedures they had 
given rise to, had created a global system for the 
promotion and protection of human rights, which must 
be strengthened. She intended to encourage universal 
implementation and ratification of the human rights 
treaties and strengthen the treaty body system. 
Moreover, she urged States to cooperate with the 
special procedures mandate holders of the Human 
Rights Council, as their independence and impartiality 
made it possible to monitor all human rights-related 
issues. 

3. The launching of the Universal Periodic Review 
should make it possible to reduce politicization and 
selectivity, which only exacerbated the global human 
rights situation. Countries needed to step up their 
international cooperation within the United Nations 
system, particularly in the General Assembly and the 
Human Rights Council, as well as in the Security 
Council, to promote the evolution of the situation. Her 
Office was well-placed to help Governments and civil 
society at the national level to protect and promote 
human rights. Extending operations in the field and 
enhancing interaction with United Nations bodies and 
with other partners were important steps towards the 
creation of national systems for the protection of 
victims of human rights violations. She pledged to 
work constructively with both the Geneva-based 
human rights bodies and those in New York, and with 
the entire United Nations system, the Secretary-
General in particular. 

4. New human rights issues were emerging. Climate 
change and the food crisis posed a direct threat to the 
fundamental rights of the most vulnerable groups, who 
were already marginalized. Measures focused on 
human rights must therefore be taken in order to 
remedy that situation by providing immediate help to 
those groups, guaranteeing them equal access to land 
and to other means of production, setting up social 
protection systems, disseminating awareness about 



 A/C.3/63/SR.20
 

3 08-56391 
 

their needs, denouncing abuses and helping victims to 
obtain reparation. The financial crisis could lead to a 
global economic crisis with enduring consequences, 
especially for the poorest groups. The Secretary-
General’s call to Member States to step up their efforts 
toward fulfilling the Millennium Development Goals 
thus was even more important. In the United Nations 
Millennium Declaration and at the 2005 World 
Summit, world leaders had stressed the close linkages 
among development, human rights, peace and security. 
In that context, the human rights approach that her 
Office advocated to combat poverty and foster 
development offered an institutional and normative 
framework that helped to reduce disparities. 

5. Terrorism was another threat to human rights. 
When adopting measures to combat terrorism, States 
must bear in mind their obligations under international 
human rights law. Among actions of her Office to 
promote the rule of law, it participated in the 
implementation of the United Nations Global Counter-
Terrorism Strategy. 

6. Migration was another challenge that would best 
be addressed from a human rights approach. Relevant 
policies developed on that issue should draw on human 
rights instruments, particularly the International 
Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All 
Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families. 
United Nations Member States must ratify that 
instrument and spare no effort to combat human 
trafficking. 

7. Moreover, the High Commissioner called upon 
States to participate actively in the Durban Review 
Conference and urged those who had announced their 
intentions not to participate, to reconsider. She 
intended to help States to overcome their differences 
and find common ground on the issues that would be 
addressed there. Having grown up in South Africa, and 
as a judge at the International Criminal Tribunal for 
Rwanda (ICTR), she was quite familiar with the 
consequences of racism, ethnic hatred, xenophobia, 
discrimination, unequal treatment and intolerance. She 
thus invited States to give new momentum to the 
struggle against those scourges and to implement the 
Durban Declaration and Programme of Action at the 
national level. 

8. The pursuit of human rights required individual 
and collective commitment, which must overcome 
partisanship and narrowly defined interests. States and 

civil society must join together to harness their 
imagination, energy and resolve and put them to use in 
the service of those rights. 

9. Mr. Ripert (France) said that it was crucial to 
preserve the integrity of the High Commissioner’s 
mandate so that she could continue to carry out her 
work independently. The Office of the High 
Commissioner should be given the necessary means to 
implement its strategic management plan in the field 
and to continue its efforts to establish regional offices. 
The treaty bodies and special procedures of the Human 
Rights Council played a crucial role and his delegation 
welcomed the active participation of the Office of the 
High Commissioner in the Universal Periodic Review 
process. Like the High Commissioner, his delegation 
agreed that it was very important to promote a culture 
of human rights within the United Nations system. Her 
Office must continue to help strengthen the capacity of 
the United Nations Secretariat to provide support to the 
Security Council and the Peacebuilding Commission in 
crisis prevention and management. The fight against 
terrorism must be pursued in compliance with the law. 
Lastly, with regard to the Durban Review Conference, 
his delegation wondered whether the High 
Commissioner could address the need for preserving 
consensus in order to obtain tangible results. 

10. Mr. Babadoudou (Benin) agreed with the High 
Commissioner that human rights should unite rather 
than divide. He commended her objective and impartial 
approach to the respect for or violation of human rights 
which applied to all countries without distinction. In 
the light of the sixtieth anniversary of the Universal 
Declaration of Human Rights and as the United 
Nations Decade for Human Rights Education had just 
come to an end, he emphasized the need to raise 
awareness and ownership of human rights by the 
people. 

11. After referring to the procedure of individual 
communications for cases of alleged violations of 
economic, social and cultural rights under the Optional 
Protocol to the International Covenant on Economic, 
Social and Cultural Rights, he stressed that human 
rights were both individual and collective, and 
wondered whether a community, as a social entity, 
would also have the right to lodge complaints. Lastly, 
he would welcome clarification on the human rights 
approach to development. 



A/C.3/63/SR.20  
 

08-56391 4 
 

12. Mr. Ramadan (Lebanon) said that his delegation 
was much encouraged by what the High Commissioner 
had said about her intention not to put any ranking on 
the various human rights but to focus on their 
implementation on the ground. Noting the importance 
of the right to food, he asked for further details on how 
the Office of the High Commissioner intended to 
prevent a decline in international cooperation for 
development, in the context of the global financial 
crisis which would inevitably have tragic consequences 
for the poorest. He also wished to know how the High 
Commissioner planned to strike a balance between 
freedom of expression and advocacy of religious 
intolerance. 

13. Ms. Stewart (Canada) stressed the need to press 
forward with the implementation of the Strategic 
Management Plan and the Plan of Action of the Office 
of the High Commissioner, with a view to improving 
management capacity and expanding field presences. 
In that connection, she drew attention to the 
importance of obtaining concrete results on the ground. 
Her delegation welcomed the strengthened capacity of 
the Office of the High Commissioner with regard to 
women’s human rights and efforts to tackle impunity, 
poverty and discrimination. It also recognized its 
important contribution of the Office as the secretariat 
of the Human Rights Council, as well as the support it 
provided to the various United Nations human rights 
mechanisms, in particular the treaty bodies, the Special 
Rapporteurs and the universal periodic review. 

14. Ms. Zhang Dan (China) stressed the importance 
of dialogue and international cooperation and 
expressed the view that the Office of the High 
Commissioner needed to strengthen its communication 
and its coordination with the Human Rights Council, 
respect the policy guidance from the Council and 
increase transparency in its work. In order to fulfil its 
responsibilities effectively, the Office of the High 
Commissioner should strictly follow the mandate 
conferred upon it by the General Assembly and better 
address the concerns of Member States, in particular 
those of the developing countries. China appreciated 
the statement by the High Commissioner that she 
intended to carry out her functions in a fair, impartial 
and objective manner, while avoiding politicization of 
the issue of human rights, and sought greater detail on 
the measures that were going to be taken to that end. 

15. Ms. Pillay (United Nations High Commissioner 
for Human Rights) replying to the question from the 

representative of France, said that it would be the 
responsibility of the Member States to reach a 
consensus at the Durban Review Conference. In her 
capacity as the Secretary-General of the Conference, 
she would strive to find compromises and to a promote 
a victim-focused approach, in order to avoid any 
politicization of the discussions and to ensure that 
participants did not become unproductively distracted 
by controversies, in particular those associated with the 
2000 Durban Conference. She would also encourage 
both Member States and the human rights NGO 
community to be constructively engaged in the process. 

16. In response to the statement by the delegation of 
Benin, she stressed that the countries taking part in the 
universal periodic review process had to first build a 
human rights culture on the ground, and that human 
rights education was a key element for realizing human 
rights. In that area, the Office of the High 
Commissioner played a highly beneficial role, through 
its field presences, by assigning priority to technical 
cooperation and education. That could be seen in the 
efforts that had been made in the context of the United 
Nations Decade for Human Rights Education, which 
had just drawn to a close. In that regard, the High 
Commissioner also recalled General Assembly 
resolution 62/171 in which the Assembly had 
proclaimed the International Year of Human Rights 
Learning.  

17. She agreed with the views expressed by the 
representative of Lebanon on the importance of human 
rights for the poorest people and observed that the 
Human Rights Council had held a meeting on the 
current food crisis on the right to food and had 
requested the Special Rapporteur on the right to food to 
give a report on the observance of that right on the 
ground. Turning to defamation of religions and 
freedom of expression, she expressed the view that it 
was necessary to examine the issue from the point of 
view of international law and international instruments, 
in particular articles 19 and 20 of the International 
Covenant on Civil and Political Rights. In reply to the 
remarks of Canada, the High Commissioner reaffirmed 
her readiness to put into operation the Strategic 
Management Plan and the Plan of Action of the Office 
of the High Commissioner, both drawn up by her 
predecessor.  

18. Responding to the question from the 
representative of China, the High Commissioner 
indicated that she would continue to support the work 



 A/C.3/63/SR.20
 

5 08-56391 
 

of the Human Rights Council and the other human 
rights-related mechanisms. She considered the 
information drawn from the special procedures to be 
particularly useful in making it possible for the Council 
to examine human rights issues in an impartial and 
facts-based manner. 

19. Ms. Gendi (Egypt) requested an explanation of 
the new concept of a rights-based approach to 
development and the concrete results it could bring. 
She also wished to be informed about the priorities that 
the Office of the High Commissioner had set itself with 
regard to the achievement of all human rights, in 
particular in the sphere of social, cultural and 
economic rights, as well as the resources that would be 
utilized to that end. In addition, she asked the High 
Commissioner’s views on the issue of the geographical 
distribution of the personnel of the Office. She also 
expressed concern that the financing of the Office’s 
field presences was primarily spent on personnel and 
logistics rather than on programmes.  

20. Mr. Wenaweser (Liechtenstein) said that the 
impending Durban Review Conference was of the 
greatest importance and would put to the test the 
capacity of Member States to come to an understanding 
on human rights issues. His delegation had noted the 
enormous gap between international human rights 
standards and their actual implementation on the 
ground throughout the world. The delegation also felt 
that the close relationship between the Office of the 
High Commissioner and the Human Rights Council, in 
Geneva, should not be allowed to diminish the 
influence of the Office on United Nations Headquarters 
in New York. The delegation of Liechtenstein was of 
the opinion that the human rights perspective did not 
play a sufficient role in policymaking at Headquarters 
and that it was therefore necessary to strengthen the 
human resources in the Office of the High 
Commissioner in New York.  

21. Ms. Sapaq (Chile) underlined the importance of 
combating discrimination against women and wished 
to know what portion of the staff working at the Office 
of the High Commissioner were female. She also asked 
for details on the role that would be played by civil 
society organizations and the relationship that the 
Office would have with them. Since the guidance that 
the High Commissioner could give concerning articles 
19 and 20 of the International Covenant on Civil and 
Political Rights was of prime importance for the 
success of the Durban Review Conference, she hoped 

that the High Commissioner could give concrete 
examples on that topic. Finally, the Chilean delegation 
noted with satisfaction the degree of importance that 
the High Commissioner attached to the issue of 
migrations.  

22. Mr. Saeed (Sudan) was pleased that the creation 
of the Human Rights Council had made it possible to 
put an end to selectivity and the application of double 
standards in the human rights sphere. The Sudanese 
delegation attached equal importance to all rights, 
including economic and social rights. In that 
connection, he recalled that in June 2008 the Human 
Rights Council had adopted the Optional Protocol 
relating to the International Covenant on Economic, 
Social and Cultural Rights and wished to know more 
about the measures that the Office of the High 
Commissioner intended to take to support and track the 
implementation thereof. His delegation attached great 
importance to the universal periodic review and asked 
to hear the views of the High Commissioner on that 
topic, in particular concerning the lessons learned from 
experience so far. Aware that the activities of technical 
cooperation and capacity-building undertaken on the 
ground did not always match the priority needs of the 
countries, he also sought further information on the 
measures taken by the Office to enhance coordination 
with the Member States.  

23. Ms. Melon (Argentina) said that the creation of 
the Human Rights Council and the strengthening of the 
Office would undoubtedly consolidate United Nations 
activity in the sphere of human rights. With regard to 
the universal periodic review, she wished to know how 
Member States could improve the presentation of their 
reports and whether that review should also cover 
instruments that did not have specific mechanisms for 
follow-up and for drafting reports, such as the 
Declaration on Human Rights Defenders.  

24. Ms. Pillay (United Nations High Commissioner 
for Human Rights), replying to the question by the 
representative of Egypt, said that the human rights 
approach was a methodological tool through which 
human rights could be more fully taken into account in 
the development activities of the United Nations, and 
on that basis, countries could take greater charge of 
development programmes. It was not a new way of 
attaching conditions to development assistance. 
According to the human rights approach, which aimed 
to show how development cooperation programmes 
contributed to the realization of human rights, such 



A/C.3/63/SR.20  
 

08-56391 6 
 

human rights principles as participation and 
non-discrimination must underpin all development 
cooperation activities. In terms of results, the method 
was focused on strengthening capacity among both 
rights-holders and duty-bearers, while taking account 
of national priorities. 

25. It was her intention to step up the measures 
already undertaken to remedy the imbalance in the 
geographical distribution of staff in her Office, which, 
in view of its mission to promote and protect universal 
human rights, should be a model of cultural and 
religious diversity, reflecting the various political, 
economic and legal systems. That question would be 
considered in detail by the senior staff of the Office 
when considering Programme 19 (Human rights) of the 
proposed strategic framework for the period 2010-2011 
(A/63/6). 

26. In reply to the question put by the representative 
of Liechtenstein, she acknowledged that because her 
Office was in Geneva, it did not take part in significant 
activities organized at Headquarters, such as the 
high-level meetings convened by the Secretary-
General, and that was the reason for requesting new 
senior posts in the New York office. She also 
acknowledged that there was a gap between human 
rights standards and their implementation, and called 
for cooperation by States in bridging the gap. 

27. In reply to the questions put by the representative 
of Chile, she agreed that there was an imbalance 
between men and women in the staff of the Office, 
especially in middle management level posts (P-4 and 
P-5), but gave assurances that the problem would be 
tackled seriously. 

28. The Office was well aware of the valuable and 
dynamic contribution made by civil society to the work 
of human rights promotion mechanisms, and it had 
established a Civil Society Group. 

29. With regard to the seminar on freedom of 
expression and advocacy of religious hatred, she said 
that the reports by experts in that field were posted on 
the website of the Office. A summary record of the 
seminar, which dealt with articles 19 and 20 of the 
International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, 
was in preparation. She invited proposals from States 
on how the seminar should be followed up. 

30. In reply to the question by the representative of 
Sudan, she emphasized that the Office of the High 

Commissioner acted entirely through cooperation with 
countries, and no projects were undertaken without the 
approval of the Government concerned. Furthermore, 
the presence of an office or sub-office of the High 
Commissioner in a given country should not be taken 
as necessarily indicating that human rights violations 
were being committed there, but rather as a token of 
the willingness of the High Commissioner’s Office to 
help that country to strengthen its capacity for 
promoting human rights. Many countries understood 
that and requested such a presence. 

31. In her view, although the Human Rights Council 
had already examined reports submitted by 
32 countries under the universal periodic review 
mechanism, it was still too early to evaluate the 
process. However, the fact that countries had reported 
on the difficulties they were encountering and the steps 
they were taking to overcome them cast fresh light on 
the ongoing debate in the human rights bodies. She 
encouraged Member States to follow the 
recommendations of the special procedures mandate 
holders, and emphasized that her Office was available 
to help them in compiling their reports under the 
universal periodic review. 

32. Ms. Seanedzu (Ghana), Vice-Chairperson, took 
the Chair. 

33. Ms. Banks (New Zealand) asked how the rights 
of disabled people would be taken into account in the 
work of the Office, and in what specific ways the 
special procedures could be improved. 

34. Ms. Phumas (Thailand) said she would like to 
know more about the roles and responsibilities of the 
national and regional offices and sub-offices of the 
High Commissioner, and the results of the work they 
did. She asked what the High Commissioner was 
expecting from the planned commemorative events and 
high-level meetings, how the Office of the High 
Commissioner intended to contribute to improving the 
credibility of the Human Rights Council and the 
mechanisms in the field for the promotion of human 
rights, and how it would help in establishing national 
and regional human rights arrangements. 

35. Mr. Goledzinowski (Australia) asked what 
delegations could do to help the regional office of the 
High Commissioner in Suva to promote and protect 
human rights in the Pacific, given that many small 
island States in the region were not represented in 
Geneva. 



 A/C.3/63/SR.20
 

7 08-56391 
 

36. Mr. Hagen (United States) asked what changes 
could be made to reduce the gap between human rights 
standards and their implementation in practice. 

37. Ms. Pillay (United Nations High Commissioner 
for Human Rights) thanked Australia for its support to 
the Suva office. Her Office would spare no effort to 
help the countries in the region to strengthen their 
capacity for promoting and protecting human rights. 

38. In reply to the question put by the representative 
of New Zealand, she said that elections would shortly 
be held for the members of the Committee on the 
Rights of Persons with Disabilities, and that her Office 
would provide all the necessary support for the new 
treaty body. 

39. She assured the representative of Thailand that 
her Office would intensify its efforts to improve 
knowledge of the work of the Human Rights Council, 
and to assist the mechanisms for promoting human 
rights in the region. 

40. In reply to the question by the representative of 
the United States, she said that to reduce the gap 
between the standards which had been adopted and 
their implementation in practice, it would be necessary, 
inter alia, for governments to authorize the special 
procedures mandate holders to go to their countries. 
For the purpose of evaluating the overall impact of the 
universal periodic review mechanism, she suggested 
making use of the skills of independent experts. 

41. Ms. Blum (Colombia) said that Colombia would 
be submitting voluntarily to a review under the 
universal periodic review mechanism and, thanks to the 
technical support received from the Office of the High 
Commissioner, was continuing to improve the human 
rights situation throughout the country. 

42. She asked whether the High Commissioner had 
recommendations for States in relation to the 
consultations on Programme 19 (Human rights) of the 
proposed strategic framework for the period 2010-2011 
with a view to strengthening cooperation with the 
Office of the High Commissioner. 

43. Mr. Majoor resumed the Chair. 

44. Mr. Amil (Pakistan) asked what measures the 
Office of the High Commissioner intended to take to 
counter the advocacy of religious hatred that could 
constitute incitement to discrimination, hostility and 
violence. The new democratic Pakistani Government 

had made a priority of the defence of human rights and 
in particular the empowerment of women. 

45. Ms. Halabi (Syrian Arab Republic) recalled that 
her country had long been asking the international 
community to address the issue of human rights in an 
impartial, universal and equitable manner, particularly 
with regard to the legal protections that the Universal 
Declaration of Human Rights and the Charter of the 
United Nations provided for colonized peoples. 

46. While welcoming the remarks of the High 
Commissioner concerning the risk of counter-terrorism 
measures violating human rights, she regretted that the 
High Commissioner had not tackled the issue of 
defence of the rights of populations living under 
foreign occupation, as they were the victims of the 
worst violations of their rights, including their right to 
life. She asked the High Commissioner to outline her 
action plan for the defence of the rights of those 
populations, as the Office of the High Commissioner 
had an office in the occupied Palestinian territories. 

47. Ms. Abdelhak (Algeria) asked the High 
Commissioner whether she shared the opinion of 
Algeria and a few other countries that the Office of the 
High Commissioner should cooperate closely with the 
Human Rights Council, or whether she felt that a close 
relationship would risk compromising the 
independence of the Office. 

48. Welcoming the fact that the High Commissioner 
attached importance to the issue of migration, she 
wondered what action the High Commissioner intended 
to take to promote ratification of the International 
Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All 
Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families, 
which had so far been ratified by only 37 States, all 
developing countries, and by none of the destination 
countries, which were responsible for protecting 
migrants. 

49. Lastly, she congratulated the High Commissioner 
for her willingness to promote broad participation in 
the Durban Review Conference, which was a 
demonstration of the international community’s unified 
commitment to the struggle against racism and would 
produce a meaningful dialogue. 

50. Mr. Vigny (Switzerland) recalled that his 
country, which supported the strengthening of all 
international and national mechanisms to protect 
human rights and supported the action of the High 



A/C.3/63/SR.20  
 

08-56391 8 
 

Commissioner, had submitted a resolution on human 
rights and transitional justice (A/HRC/9/L.22) to the 
previous session of the Human Rights Council and it 
had been adopted by consensus. His delegation was 
pleased to state that the resolution requested the Office 
of the High Commissioner to submit an analytical 
study on that subject, including the human rights 
components of peace missions. 

51. Mr. Rastam (Malaysia) emphasized the 
inalienable right of each State to choose its own 
political, economic, social and cultural systems. He 
asked the High Commissioner to clarify the purpose of 
country reports, as they tended to be politicized and 
divisive, and the universal periodic review mechanism 
of the Human Rights Council was already operational. 

52. Furthermore, he asked the High Commissioner 
how she intended to reconcile the positions of 
countries on the very important issue of the right to 
development and other rights deriving from it. He also 
asked how she planned to work with regional 
organizations and how those organizations and the 
regional human rights mechanisms could facilitate the 
implementation of existing international treaties. 

53. Ms. Cross (United Kingdom) said that her 
country attached great importance to the role of the 
Office of the High Commissioner as a politically 
independent body in the service of human rights at the 
global level, as well as its action to support the treaty 
bodies, which had recently been expanded by the 
adoption of new instruments such as the Optional 
Protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other 
Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or 
Punishment. She looked forward to seeing the reform 
of the Office of the High Commissioner and in 
particular the strengthening of its field activities to 
help States to implement their human rights 
commitments. She asked the High Commissioner to 
clarify how she intended to promote the mainstreaming 
of human rights in United Nations activities and how 
States could help her in that task. 

54. Mr. Emadi (Islamic Republic of Iran) expressed 
the support of his country for the Durban Review 
Conference and welcomed the High Commissioner’s 
call for commemoration of the sixtieth anniversary of 
the proclamation of the Universal Declaration of 
Human Rights. He announced that Iran would make a 
voluntary contribution for the organization of the 

seminar on human rights and cultural diversity that 
would soon be held in Geneva. 

55. Mr. Amorós Núñez (Cuba) said he was pleased 
that the High Commissioner was planning to improve 
the geographical distribution of the Office staff, as 
more than 70 per cent of the current staff members 
were from developed countries, a figure that did not at 
all reflect the current balance of the Organization. As 
for the Office’s field presence and the High 
Commissioner’s expressed intention to follow the 
outlines of the strategic plan presented by her 
predecessor, he was concerned that most cooperation 
activities were targeted solely at developing countries, 
perhaps implying that the developed countries had no 
need to improve their national capacities in the field of 
human rights. In view of the High Commissioner’s 
emphasis on the importance of the receiving countries’ 
consent and her desire to avoid stigmatizing any 
country in that regard, he asked how she hoped to 
change the current situation. 

56. Mr. Chumarev (Russian Federation) wondered 
how the Office of the High Commissioner, with its 
present resources and under the strategic plan being 
considered for 2010-2011, would be able to deal with 
the impact of the current financial and food crisis on 
the realization of human rights. He also asked how the 
Office would take advantage of the dialogue among 
cultures and major religions in order to promote a 
culture of human rights, for it seemed that important 
religious elements lay behind certain values, such as 
respect for the individual or greater protection of all 
human rights, including collective rights. 

57. Ms. Pillay (High Commissioner for Human 
Rights), responding to the questions from the Russian 
Federation and Malaysia, said that the Office would 
have to make do with current resources; it would, 
however, continue to call for voluntary contributions 
from Member States to deal with critical issues. The 
Office could be useful only if it took the lead and acted 
in collaboration with countries, international 
organizations and civil society in order to tackle world 
problems such as climate change and rising food prices 
within a human rights-based context. The Human 
Rights Council had asked her Office to prepare a study 
on human rights and climate change, and the Office 
had recently held consultations on the relationships 
between human rights and development financing. The 
regional offices were also monitoring the impact of the 
crises in the field, especially in the most vulnerable 



 A/C.3/63/SR.20
 

9 08-56391 
 

areas. In addition, the Office had a research unit and 
relied on experts and mandate holders to advise it on 
how best to move forward. 

58. On the question of how the use of dialogue could 
promote a culture of human rights, she gave the 
example of an expert seminar on freedom of speech 
and incitement to racial or religious hatred, explaining 
that her Office would continue calling for dialogue, 
establishing expert groups and supporting the work of 
the Human Rights Council. 

59. In response to the question from the Syrian Arab 
Republic concerning the protection of vulnerable 
populations under colonization or foreign occupation, 
she said that her Office adhered to the strict, universal 
application of international human rights law, 
international humanitarian law, refugee law and 
criminal law, without double standards. 

60. As for Algeria’s question, she said she would 
continue to call on States to ratify the International 
Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All 
Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families and 
abide by the provisions of international and human 
rights law concerning migrant workers. 

61. With regard to the question raised by Malaysia on 
the right to development and the right to food, she said 
she hoped that the Optional Protocol to the 
International Covenant on Economic, Social and 
Cultural Rights would soon be adopted, and she looked 
forward to the continued work on the interpretation of 
international standards by the Committee on Economic, 
Social and Cultural Rights and the Special Rapporteur 
on the right to food. 

62. In response to the question from the United 
Kingdom, she recalled that the 2005 World Summit 
Outcome had called for the mainstreaming of human 
rights throughout the United Nations system (General 
Assembly resolution 60/1). As the promotion of closer 
cooperation between her Office and all competent 
United Nations bodies was an important aspect of her 
work, she looked to Member States for support in 
establishing a post of Assistant Secretary-General in 
New York to pursue mainstreaming objectives. 

63. As for the question asked by the representative of 
Cuba, she noted that the proportion of staff members 
from Western Europe had already decreased; statistics 
bearing out that trend would be made available shortly. 
She also explained that, in her capacity as High 

Commissioner, she would carry out country visits 
throughout the world, as had her predecessor, and 
would issue statements on human rights situations in 
both developed and developing countries. 

64. Mr. Gambari (Special Adviser for Myanmar), 
introducing the report of the Secretary-General on the 
situation of human rights in Myanmar (A/63/356), 
referred to the five key issues of concern to the United 
Nations and the international community and the four 
guiding principles for the implementation of the 
Secretary-General’s good offices mandate in the 
country. The unprecedented level of cooperation that 
had been established between Myanmar, the United 
Nations, the Association of Southeast Asian Nations 
(ASEAN) and other partners in the aftermath of 
cyclone Nargis, which had ravaged the country, 
showed that priority should be given to cooperation 
rather than isolation. 

65. While the spirit of cooperation between Myanmar 
and the United Nations had been marked by 
improvement in recent months, the authorities had not 
yet taken meaningful steps in response to the concerns 
and expectations of the United Nations and the 
international community. Ultimately, the future of the 
country was in the hands of the Government and 
people of Myanmar. The Government should start 
taking substantive action, in particular with regard to 
the release of political prisoners and meaningful 
dialogue with all relevant stakeholders.  

66. Only a credible and inclusive political process 
based on mutual understanding and compromise by all 
stakeholders could help to advance the prospects of 
durable peace, national reconciliation and respect for 
human rights in Myanmar. 

67. Mr. U Thaung Tun (Myanmar) expressed 
disappointment that the report of the Secretary-General 
(A/63/356) cast doubt on the credibility of the 
constitutional referendum, the holding of which had 
demonstrated that his Government was firmly attached 
to implementation of the road map in seven stages that 
it had established. His Government had done 
everything in its power to guarantee the legality of the 
referendum, even inviting foreign diplomats to observe 
the polling. The referendum had not in any way 
impeded the delivery of assistance to the victims of 
cyclone Nargis as it had been postponed in the 
47 townships most affected. 



A/C.3/63/SR.20  
 

08-56391 10 
 

68. It was sad that some Governments had attempted 
to mix the humanitarian crisis with politics by 
attaching conditions to their offers of assistance. The 
fact was that the Government and people of Myanmar 
had responded expeditiously to the national emergency, 
providing shelter to the victims, spending over 87 
billion kyats on rescue and rehabilitation operations, 
requesting emergency assistance from the United 
Nations and distributing international aid to the 
victims. 

69. Recalling that cooperation with the United 
Nations was a cornerstone of his country’s foreign 
policy, he said that the Secretary-General, after his 
visit to the country, had commended the courage and 
resilience of the population and had explained that the 
relief programme set up by the Government was 
functioning. Similarly, the tripartite core group 
responsible for assessment of the post-cyclone relief 
operations had also emphasized the prompt and 
systematic response of the Government and people of 
Myanmar to the disaster.  

70. Mr. Natalegawa (Indonesia), emphasizing the 
complexity of the situation in Myanmar, recognized 
that the cooperation between the United Nations and 
the Government of Myanmar had improved and invited 
the authorities of the country to produce tangible 
results in the five areas of concern mentioned in the 
report of the Secretary-General. He emphasized that 
the international community must express itself in a 
single voice so that shared objectives could be 
achieved. 

71. Mr. Wenaweser (Liechtenstein) asked for 
clarification of the date, the objective and the 
modalities of the Secretary-General’s next visit to 
Myanmar. 

72. Mr. Pramudwinai (Thailand), endorsing the 
statement made by the representative of Indonesia, said 
that his country, which currently chaired ASEAN, 
would continue to support the action taken by the 
Secretary-General in the context of his good offices 
mandate. 

73. Mr. Gambari (Special Adviser for Myanmar) 
recalled that 15 years previously, in his capacity as 
representative of Nigeria, he had addressed the 
Committee on the issue of democracy and human 
rights. Believing that his experience of the 
democratization of his country, which had been a 
respected member of the international community since 

1999, could be useful, he offered to share it with the 
Government of Myanmar and with the opposition. 
Responding to a question from the representative of 
Liechtenstein, he said that the Secretary-General would 
go to Myanmar in due course, if the conditions were 
such as to allow progress to be made on questions of 
concern to the international community. 

The meeting rose at 1 p.m. 



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


